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Here is the dialogue record of my several hours of testimony to the U.S. House 
of Representatives Select Committee on Population, Chairman, Congressman James 
H. Scheuer, on April 15, 1979 -- my last testimony to the Congress on USAID’s 
population/family planning program; which I had directed during 14 turbulent 
years but which was then being usurped by adversary religious zealots 
appointed by President Jimmy Carter.  
 
Congressman Scheuer was one of the earliest and most able members of the 
Congress on the issue of the World Population Crisis and the U.S. response: 
generally supportive but also deeply interested in understanding what was and 
should be done to resolve the problem. (This testimony dialogue is followed by 
my written presentation and many tables documenting how we had applied more 
than a billion dollars of Congressionally earmarked funds “for programs 
relating to population growth.”) 
 

--------------------------------- 
 

DR. RAVENHOLT: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And thank you for this opportunity to 
provide a global perspective on AID’s population program assistance and 
activities. You are aware, as I am, that we are engaged in a momentous task, 
trying to balance the world population with its resources, especially food and 
energy. 
 

It is no easy task and perhaps because of that fact it has 
drawn a large number of truly outstanding people to do this work. As I 
was preparing this testimony, I reflected upon the tremendous 
contributions made by such people as Senator Ernest Gruening, Dr  Alan 
Guttmacher and, most of all, Gen. William Draper, in the early years of 
this program. Likewise Senator William Fulbright, then Chairman of the 
Senate Foreign Relations Committee, who was instrumental in earmarking 
funds for this program, beginning in 1968. This was indispensable for 
getting the program started and going. 
 

Without it, we just wouldn't have had a program. And I'm 
also mindful of the tremendous contributions made by many in this room 
-- yourself, members of my staff, some of whom have worked more than 
ten years on this program, members of the Committee, many of whom have 
worked in a variety of positions in the field as well as in Washington 
making in each their own way important, unique contributions toward the 
further understanding and forward motion of the world action to resolve 
the population crisis. 
 

You have my prepared remarks [which are appended hereto] and 
without further introductory comments I'd like to respond to your 
questions. 
 
MR. SCHEUER: Very good. 
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QUESTIONS AND REMARKS 
 
MR. SCHEUER: On page 3 of your testimony, you state in the bottom 
paragraph that the “availability of family planning information and 
means is now usually a dominant determinant in the complex of forces 
influencing reproductive behavior.” And throughout your paper you do 
say that the availability of family planning is a major determinant. 
You stop short of saying it's the over-riding determinant and so on and 
so forth. What do you consider the other major determinants which 
influence reproductive behavior? 
 
MR. SCHEUER: For example, an page 27 you say, "Fertility patterns . . . 
in developing countries . . . are affected by so many diverse factors 
that it is ordinarily exceedingly difficult to accurately measure the 
impact of a single factor, even if it be the dominant factor.  Well , 
do you think, there is a dominant factor?” 
 
  
DR. RAVENHOLT: This varies somewhat by situation. I usually analyze 
determinants of fertility under three principal headings: firstly, the 
need that a person, couple or society has to control its fertility; 
secondly, the opportunities or means they have to control their 
fertility; and, thirdly, the extent of their knowledge of the need and 
opportunities for controlling fertility. Which one of these factors is 
dominant will vary from time to time, so there are times indeed when 
the sheer need for control of fertility becomes so intense that it 
overrides the other factors; for example, the Irish potato famine in 
the 1840s, and the pervasive economic depression in the 1930's. 
 
MR. SCHEUER: You mean the 1930's in the United States? 
 
DR. RAVENHOLT: In the United States and in many other countries. 
 
MR. SCHEUER: That's when the means were available. 
 
DR. RAVENHOLT: Well, means were available to a limited extent, which  
did not change much from 1929 to 1940 -- mainly barrier contraceptives 
and abstinence. But there's no doubt that responding to the sudden 
intensification of need for control of fertility, many millions of 
individual couples and entire societies greatly increased their control 
of fertility so that the fertility dropped. 
 

The birth rate dropped to an all time low, until that time, 
during the 30's. And this was not a function of increased availability 
of methods, it was a function of the intensification of need for 
fertility control. We have seen similar changes in the developing 
countries. In Bangladesh during the fall of 1974 and into 1975, they 
had a massive crop failure and suddenly the price of rice increased 
five-fold. Therewith came severe economic deprivation, a rapid increase 
in the death rate and a rapid decrease in the birth rate. 
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This has happened in many places, many times, in smaller and 
larger populations. So the objective need that a couple has to control 
its fertility is indeed very determinative. In many situations, large 
numbers of couples have ongoing need to control their fertility but 
very limited knowledge and opportunities for the control of fertility. 
This is largely the situation in the developing countries with which 
we're concerned. It's not that these people don't have a need to 
control their fertility, but they have not heretofore had the 
information and the means to control it. 
 

MR. SCHEUER: When you say need, do you mean need as we 
perceive it, or as their governments perceive it, or as the people 
perceive it? Are you talking about motivation on their part? 
 

DR. RAVENHOLT: As they perceive it. I'm reminded, for 
example, when I was in Asia a couple of months ago and in Bangladesh 
visited a clinic of the Bangladesh Association for Voluntary 
Sterilization. There  I observed a woman coming for tubal ligation who 
had had nineteen pregnancies and yet had only two living children. 
 
Comparing the need for sterilization of two women: one who has had two 
live births and both have survived, with a woman has had nineteen 
births, seventeen of whom have died, surely it is the poor woman who 
has gone through the agony of bearing nineteen children and watching 
seventeen of them die, who has the most intense need to control her 
fertility. This is not an unusual situation in the developing 
countries. Although there are many arm-chair strategists, particularly 
on the American scene, who think that all kinds of other things must be 
done before poor, illiterate, peasant people will wish to control their 
fertility, within our experience -- and it's quite an extensive 
experience -- this is simply not the case. And as we now get much more 
precise data from many countries from the World Fertility Survey, we 
see indeed that right now in the developing countries, approximately 
one-half of married women of reproductive age do not want anymore 
children. Whenever good quality voluntary sterilization services is 
provided in the developing countries, the demand for those services 
ordinarily exceeds the capacity of the surgical clinics. There is 
ordinarily a long queue waiting for those services. There is also great 
demand for other means, but the demand for female tubal ligation 
services is most easily measured. 
 
MR. SCHEUER: Congressman Beilenson, one of our most distinguished and 
hard-working members. 
 
MR. BEILENSON: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. No questions. 
 
MR. SCHEUER: When you refer somewhat waspishly to the sidewalk 
superintendents and their fanciful proposals, I suppose you're 
including a good many people who have some criticism of the AID 
Program, myself included. I concur totally in your estimate that 
there's an awfully large constituency out there in the developing world 
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of women who don't need motivation and they don't need information or 
education and they don't need indoctrination. They know that they want 
to control their fertility. And I've been to Asia and I've been to 
Africa and I've been to Latin America and I've been to the family 
planning clinics out in the bush in all of these continents I have seen 
the waiting lines. 
 

So I concur that we have a long ways to go before we even 
meet the needs of the constituency that is ready and available and 
wants help now. I think the reservations some of us have about the way 
that the AID program has been cast and the seeming concentration on 
supplies, as is characterized innundation of the developing world with 
contraceptives, condom innundation, as it's sometimes called. 
 

Our reservations are that when family planning is presented in the 
initial stage of a country's halting entrance into the field of contraceptive 
practices -- that presenting family planning as a free-standing program, not 
related to other health programs, not even related to maternal and child 
health programs, tends to give it the perception that this is an AID program 
coming from the West because we want you to reduce your population or control 
your population.  

 
I have found this criticism of the AID program a persistent drumbeat. 

Wherever I have gone in the developing world, people who are wholeheartedly 
enthusiastically behind family planning find that this perception of family 
planning, that hinges on the view that all we want to do is control population 
growth rate for our own purposes and it is not related to any compassionate 
concern for overall health matters, is crippling their efforts to get going 
with family planning programs. Do you have any reaction to this? 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Yes, I have several. When I speak of 
sidewalk superintendents, I’m really speaking of an embarrassment of riches. 
I’ve run other public health programs, where one has to work very hard to 
generate interest in the program and support for the program. We are both 
fortunate and unfortunate in the population field that there is such 
tremendous, widespread interest in this problem and program, because it is so 
central to the improvement of the human condition, particularly in the 
developing countries, that a tremendous number of people are intimately 
interested in it. 
 
The thing that bemuses me is that thousands and thousands of people, who have 
not had any particular education or experience in trying to implement a 
fertility control program, are perfectly confident and assertive that they 
know best how to do it. They may not know how to fix the plumbing under their 
own sink, but they know precisely how the world population problem should be 
solved. Sometimes we enjoy their comments and contributions, but sometimes it 
gets a bit onerous, which is what I was referring to. 
 
With respect to contraceptive supplies and a term coined by the Pakistan 
government, “innundation”, and the criticism of AID’s program as somehow being 
overly concerned with provision of contraceptives, I would submit that … 
 
MR SCHEUER: It’s the setting, Ray. It’s the setting. A free-standing 
contraceptive program unrelated to other health programs or other social 
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programs, but particularly unrelated to maternal health programs, this is the 
note. This is the canker under the saddle, as I perceive it in country after 
country I have been to. 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Let me come back to that in a moment, but first say that with 
respect to contraceptive supplies we are concerned here in Washington, my 
office is, with taking far-sighted action to ensure that the supplies are 
actually in the countries where they’re needed and can be used. For that 
reason we must battle for monies from Congress, write specifications, purchase 
contraceptive supplies, arrange the shipping – we have a supply line often two 
years long, delivering supplies by diverse routes to more than seventy 
countries, many on the other side of the world. 
 
When it comes to the magnitude of contraceptive supplies, we have learned from 
experience that if the program is going to work, we must plan for success, a 
certain minimum of supplies must become present in that program. With respect 
to the overall magnitude of supplies, of the one billion dollars expended 
through fiscal 1977, about 162 million has gone for contraceptives and related 
supplies, surgical equipment, and so forth. 
 
This may seem like a lot of money for contraceptives to some, but let me 
assure you it is still far too little to get the necessary work done. We are 
currently delivering a little more than 100 million monthly cycles of oral 
contraceptives per annum, which is only enough OCs to supply 9 or 10  million 
women for a year. 
 
We’re dealing with a total population of about 300 million couples of 
reproductive age, and far more than 100 million cycles annually are needed to 
supply all women who would wish to use them if made readily available. 
 
Likewise, since the beginning of the program we have supplied 1.7 billion 
condoms, which may sound like a lot, but that’s less than six condoms per male 
of reproductive age. Many of those criticizing our emphasis upon getting 
adequate supplies of contraceptives available in every country with which we 
are concerned, simply do not have enough knowledge of the quantitative needs 
of the program with which we are concerned.  
 
Now responding to your comments on program design and the relation of family 
planning and other health programs: Let me say that all our programs are 
integrated with health programs, especially with maternal and child health 
programs, and always have been so integrated. Name me one program in Africa 
that is not so integrated; one in Latin America that is not so integrated; 
likewise in East Asia. In all of Asia, the only one not largely integrated is 
in Pakistan, where they have ignored many of our suggestions. Keep in mind 
that country family planning programs are ultimately the responsibility of 
those countries. We have some influence, and can mold the programs somewhat by 
our provision of supplies and other support, but we do not have line authority 
over those programs. Please keep in mind that much of the noise concerning our 
emphasis on making adequate contraceptive supplies available in every country 
program we support, comes from Catholic adversaries of all effective means of 
birth control. They sometimes seek more complete “integration” of family 
planning programs into health programs, mainly to hide or obliterate the birth 
control element. When that happens, the poor people can’t find them.  
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We have wrestled with many fully integrated FP/MCH programs, costing several 
dollars per capita per annum, where after 8 or 10 years the prevalence of 
contraceptive use by fecund couples was still less than 3 percent. 
 
MR SCHEUER: Of women of child bearing age?   
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Right. In places like Guatemala, we have learned that family 
planning is not achieved by simply throwing money at integrated health 
programs. I am an epidemiologist and public health professional, and I view 
family planning as the most essential public health program. But I do not 
believe that this country can afford to finance total spectrum health programs 
for all the less developed countries; when we can hardly afford it for our own 
country 
 
Altogether our annual budget for AID’s family planning program – with which we 
are supposed to drop the excess fertility of the less developed world, a 
population of more than two billion people – has been only about the level of 
the budget for the U.S. domestic family planning program, concerned with just 
10 million women, and with which you, Mr Chairman, have been much concerned. 
 
MR SCHEUER: We still have trouble reaching our goals here. We are still not 
serving 3 ½ million women in their childbearing years who don’t have access to 
family planning through the private sector.  
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Right. Our very limited budget is aimed at helping the LDC’s 
provide fertility control services to 300 million women and couples of 
reproductive age, on the other side of the world, in poorest countries, where 
communication and transportation and all other social conditions are 
difficult. So sometimes I feel that we should have had better sense than to 
have undertaken this virtually impossible task. But we have gotten at it, and 
have made considerable headway.  
 
For a number of years after the Congress began earmarking funds for the 
program in 1968, the budget went up about $25 million each year, to $125 
million in Fiscal 1972. Unfortunately, they did not earmark personnel for the 
program, and we’ve always been shorthanded. In 1974, Senator Wm Fulbright was 
not re-elected; and Congressman Otto Passman, Chairman, House Foreign 
Operations Appropriations Committee -- angered when we refused to provide 
several million loose dollars as requested to one of his constituents -- 
engaged in negative earmarking against the population program, reducing the 
annual budget for Fiscal 1975 to $100 million. 
 
Hence we were confronted with the need for intense scrutiny of every aspect of 
the program – seeking to preserve essential projects and programs while 
pruning non-essentials. This forced a further sharpening of the program focus; 
and we harvested criticism from those organizations we could no longer support 
with the diminished resources provided by the Congress. 
 
MR SCHEUER: Yeah, you might know that we’ve been working closely with the 
International Relations Committee and now have recommended a budget for next 
year of $220 million. 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Well, I am delighted to hear that and to have the help of 
your committee. 
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MR SCHEUER: Congressman Beilenson here played a major role in getting 
them to raise their sights significantly. He serves on the 
International Affairs Committee, as does Cardiss Collins and Mike 
Harrington. The three of them had a substantial role in raising that 
figure. 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: With respect to program settings again, let me say that 
the kind of program configuration countries want varies greatly by 
continent and country. It is true that some countries want help with 
broad configuration health programs having only a smidgen of 
contraceptives in them. For these we provide contraceptives; but with 
our limited population funds we cannot fund the general health 
programs. In Africa and Latin America, numbers of countries request 
that we fund program elements not essential for birth control, which we 
must decline doing because of our defined mission and scarcity of 
funds. But in East Asia – South Korea, Indonesia, and Thailand – there 
is ample opportunity for application of our funds for high priority 
population program elements. 
 
During the last several years, the Indonesian family planning program 
has functioned so well in implementing the family planning program that 
we have supported their addition of some nutrition, health, and crafts 
elements thereto, in recognition of their outstanding birth control 
efforts and to reward and sustain the program. But they recognized and 
agreed that the main focus and action of the program was for control of 
fertility. There has certainly been no resentment of our support for 
sharply focused family planning programs in Indonesia, Thailand, and 
Korea. Their goals and our goals are very much the same, and rapid 
improvements in fertility control are occurring there. 
 
MR SCHEUER: Dr Teitelebaum informed me that the director of that 
program will be testifying next week. 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Right. 
 
MR SCHEUER: When we get a little further along, I am going to ask you 
what you consider the key element in the success of the Indonesian 
program. Now can I recognize John Erlenborn, the ranking minority 
member of this committee, and as hard-working and as thoughtful a 
member as we have. 
 
MR ERLENBORN: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Dr Ravenholt, some of the 
witnesses that we have heard from before have discussed what I think of 
sometimes as the chicken and egg dilemma. Which comes first, motivation 
of the population in the underdeveloped countries or the provision of 
birth control information, devices, and family planning services. 
 
Let me ask you, do you feel – and I have glanced by the way through 
your testimony – haven’t had a chance to read it thoroughly – I see 
very little about the issue of motivation, improvement of social 
services, security of the aged, maternal child care, and so forth. 
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Do you feel that the population in the under-developed countries are 
now quite well motivated to utilize what you are able ti furnish in the 
way of family planning information and services? 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Thank you, Mr. Congressman. You perhaps were not here 
when I went over some of this earlier, but I will respond more 
explicitly to your questions. Yes, we know that right now there is 
tremendous motivation in the developing countries for effective means 
of fertility control. 
 
We know this from many sources: If one goes to villages and maternity 
hospitals in the LDCs, as I have done in many countries, and 
systematically ask the women of reproductive age whether they wish to 
be pregnant soon, a majority of women will respond that they do not, 
and they are ordinarily eager for help to avoid any such pregnancies. 
Also, depending greatly upon how many children they have, many will 
respond that they do not want any more children. In fact, recent 
findings of the World Fertility Survey, now operating in many 
countries, document that roughly one-half of married women of 
reproductive age in the developing world do not want anymore children. 
There is tremendous motivation for fertility control, even among the 
poorest and illiterate peasants in the less developed world. 
 
Where fertility control information, means and practices have not yet 
penetrated traditional societies, women ordinarily bear more than a 
half-dozen children – often more than a dozen - and are fatalistic 
about their fate of bearing large numbers of children. They have not 
given much thought to controlling their fertility – just as was the 
case in the United States and Europe until this century. But bearing 
and nurturing large numbers of children is hard work for any mother, 
and dangerous for the health and life of mothers in the LDCs – where in 
many countries the maternal mortality rate is more than 10 maternal 
deaths per 1000 births. 
 
It is not until effective means of fertility are introduced into such 
societies, that women and couples give much thought to using such neans 
for control of their fertility. But when they see neighbors and friends 
beginning to use effective means of fertility control and beginning to 
harvest the extraordinary advantages gained therefrom: freedom from the 
burden of unwanted pregnancy, freedom from fear of possible dreadful 
consequences of unwanted pregnancy, lesser work and expense, more food 
for existing children, more time with her husband, and with neighbors, 
etc,  then they quickly become enthusiastic for family planning. 
 
Furthermore, we have tested the demand for fertility control very 
directly, by offering oral contraceptives to every household in 
substantial poorest populations of dozens of poor countries; and 
ordinarily discover that a majority of households accept such 
contraceptives; many immediately begin using the contraceptives, and 
the use of effective contraceptives becomes a growing practice in such 
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populations, regardless of whether they are literate or illiterate, 
Moslem, Catholic, Protestant, or any other religion.   
 
And when we introduce quality out-patient voluntary sterilization 
services, as in the high valleys of Nepal, and in the slums of Dacca, 
Calcutta, and Mexico, the demand for tubal ligation services ordinarily 
exceeds the clinical capacity. In the mountainous valleys of Nepal, 
women walk for several days to obtain tubal ligation in camp settings. 
 
 
Surely, these many direct experiences in every continent, in diverse 
settings, gives us a solid basis for asserting that the motivation for 
birth control continues to greatly exceed the services offered in most 
of the less developed world. 
 
For example, in Indonesia – and you can discuss this directly with 
Harry Haryono and Tom Reese, the principals who will be here --  the 
findings have been that the first sweep of their program – going to 
every household with oral contraceptives and related services – roughly 
one-half of eligible couples in West Java are actually initiating 
fertility control; and that is just on the first sweep of the program. 
So the difference between a month before and a month after the 
implementation of such a program gives a vivid measure of unmet need 
and the motivation for fertility control. 
 
MR ERLENBORN: From what you tell me then the varying experiences with 
the results of fertility control programs would vary -- I am not sure 
how to put it – but vary according to the way the program is set up and 
its administrative success rather than varying motivations from one 
society to another? 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Yes, but motivations for fertility control does vary with 
time and circumstances. As I mentioned before you came in, there are 
times when societies undergo remarkable changes in their motivations 
for fertility control: as with a sudden crop failure, or a collapse of 
the stock market, and so forth, large numbers of couples may suddenly 
become intensely motivated to control their fertility. But we are 
confident that right now – out there in the less developed world – 
there are far more couples wishing to control their fertility than we 
are yet able to serve by providing USAID assistance to country leaders 
and programs.  
 
MR ERLENBORN: I understand that in delivering the services you have 
available you use intermediaries or wholesalers to a great extent; that 
is, International Planned Parenthood, Pathfinder Fund, Family Planning 
International Assistance, and so forth. Who monitors their programs of 
each one of these and evaluates their effectiveness? 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: I have a hard working, dedicated staff. Most of these 
contracts with private, voluntary organizations, active in the family 
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planning field, are monitored by our Family Planning Services Division, 
which has a grants branch, and Jerry Bowers is currently chief of that. 
 
He and his staff monitor each of these cooperating agencies very 
closely. They are very important elements of our general program. The 
development of these relationships with these private and voluntary 
organizations, I must say, was born from necessity – because we have 
always been short-handed, unable to directly employ all hands needed, 
because of the intense constraints on AID’s personnel because of Viet 
Nam warfare needs, etc. We have only a very small staff with which to 
move a very large and far-flung program. Fortunately, they have 
participated with great enthusiasm and effectiveness. Lenny Robinson 
was with Family Planning Assistance International in Africa, and can 
testify that in many countries, were it not for the pioneering and 
innovative work of these private organizations, supported by USAID, 
there would be no family planning activity there. During the late 1960s 
and early 1970s, we were thoroughly busy creating these cooperating 
agencies. Then with the Congressional cut-back of population funds for 
Fiscal 1974,’75 and ’76, we were forced to consolidate and prune many 
activities. 
 
Generally we are delighted with the effective work these organizations 
are doing; though always aware that the strength of each organization 
is highly dependent upon its leadership, and with changing leadership 
we must sometimes shift the load-bearing of the several organizations 
working in a country or region. 
 
Responding to your comments on program configuration and other 
developmental concerns, general health and social services, maternal 
and child health, care of the aged, and so forth, I wish to emphasize 
that throughout the decade of the 1970s, USAID’s population/family 
planning program has only had approximately 5% of USAID’s developmental 
assistance dollars. Those other programs mentioned – general health and 
social services, education, and so forth are the prime responsibility 
of the rest of the agency, for which work they have 95% of USAID’s 
budget. It would not be realistic for us to attack the many problems in 
other sectors of developmental assistance with our 5% share of the 
general budget. 
 
We were fortunate that with the consistent striving for an effective 
program by USAID staff during more than a decade; with great help from 
numbers of very able and dedicated persons such as General William 
Draper, yourself and other dedicated members of Congress, USAID 
Administrator John Hannah, and Deputy Administrator Maurice Williams, a 
population program with greater thrust power than the ordinary AID 
program was created. In 1972 all technical personnel concerned with the 
population program in AID/Washington were amalgamated into the Office 
of Population, enabling us to create a unified program, able to move 
with remarkable speed during a half-dozen years. This degree of 
functional program unity was denied most programs. Because we have been 
able to move with greater strength than most programs, it is suggested 

 11 



   

that we undertake additional activities. But we have neither the 
dollars nor the personnel needed for that; and now the agency has moved 
to disperse population personnel back into the scattered configuration 
which we know is far less efficient than what we had. 
 
MR ERLENBORN: Would you comment as to the relative merits of bilateral 
versus multilateral aid in this area. 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Each of these has merit. It varies greatly by country. In 
some countries almost all of the needed assistance can be provided on a 
bilateral basis. Indonesia is a case in point, where there is such 
powerful support for the program – from the President on down – that 
only a limited amount of assistance must be made available through 
private and voluntary organizations. 
 
At the other end of the assistance spectrum, there are countries where 
bilateral assistance is impossible for various reasons and family 
planning action is entirely dependent on the assistance we provide 
through cooperating agencies. Fortunately, we have over the past decade 
developed a very effective network of cooperating agencies. A case in 
point is Mexico, where in the early seventies birth control was still 
such a sensitive political issue that the government wanted no 
bilateral family planning assistance. But we made a particular effort 
to facilitate rapid fertility control changes by enlisting  coordinated 
assistance from and through Planned Parenthood Western Hemisphere, the 
Pathfinder Fund, Family Planning International Assistance of PPFA, 
Johns Hopkins Program for International Education in Gynecology and 
Obstetrics (JHPIEGO), the International Fertility Research Program, the 
World Fertility Survey, Contraceptive Prevalence Surveys, the 
Population Information Program, etc, etc. Through these many private 
organizations receiving USAID assistance, we were providing as much as 
$12 million family planning assistance to Mexico annually, including 
all the contraceptives needed. 
  
MR SCHEUER: And the assumption is that after a few years the concept of 
family planning becomes acceptable and it has been defused as a hot 
political issue, then countries themselves might begin to get involved. 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: This has been our experience. We must be very sensitive 
to the difference between countries, and whether to program our 
assistance through bilateral action or alternative routes – otherwise 
many opportunities, much time, and family planning resources would be 
wasted. In Mexico, as in Brazil, support for family planning actions 
through private organizations was eagerly accepted by so many of the 
public that it proved an ice breaker, and family planning soon became a 
much less sensitive political issue. 
 
There is a larger number of countries, where although these countries 
request some bilateral assistance for population and family planning, 
there are so many deficiencies of executive leadership, policy 
constraint, bureaucratic malfunction, and slothful execution of 
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government programs that a substantial add-on of USAID Cooperating 
Agency action is needed to make relief from unwanted childbearing a 
reality for millions of impoverished couples in the LDCs. This is 
especially true when adding certain more efficient technologies to the 
methods mix – especially the surgical skills and technology needed for 
successful tubal ligation programs.    
 
I have included a number of tables in my written testimony documenting 
the magnitude and interplay of USAID assistance provided by the 
considerable number of organizations we support and work with in each 
developing country. But I did not have such tables for all countries in 
time for this hearing; so will add more later. In most of the countries 
to which we began providing assistance a decade ago, it was a singular 
action. But as other sources of assistance have been created and 
strengthened the assistance action has become more complex, including 
assistance from many other donor countries -- Sweden, Norway, Denmark, 
United Kingdom, Japan, Netherlands, etc. Unfortunately, the World Bank 
has been more of a hindrance than a help in this field; for the reason 
that it only offers loan assistance, which is ineffectual for family 
planning, and when interjected into a multilateral project greatly 
retards the implementation of that project.      
 
Along the way, the host government ordinarily begins picking up 
increasing amounts of the P/FP budget, which enables us to gradually 
shift the burden to the host country and other donors. It is in most 
cases essential that we continue to be a ready source of contraceptives 
to ensure continuance of programs.  
 
MR ERLENBORN: One last question – if you had the resources and the 
capacity to deliver them to all of the currently unmet demand for 
family planning services worldwide, how far with your crystal ball to 
aid you would you believe the birth rate would fall? 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Well I do think the evidence is clear that full provision 
of family planning supplies and services to all the less developed 
counties would reduce the birth rates in the developing countries by 
more than half. In other words in a traditional society with the crude 
birth rate close to 50 births per 1000 population, the full provision 
of information and all the most effective means and services would 
reduce the birth rate to less than 25, and usually to less than 20 
births per 1000. 
 
Now when it comes to achieving zero population growth – perhaps 
dropping birth rates to equal death rates below 10 -- then additional 
social actions would probably be needed. The sheer intensity of social 
action toward birth control would be highly determinative. Powerful 
death control efforts in countries with young populations may bring the 
death rates as low as 6 per 1000 population. To bring birth rates that 
low would be difficult and require extraordinary programs. 
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MR SCHEUER: Doesn’t it also take a network to make that commitment at 
the top level in the villages – a network such as you have in 
Indonesia? 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Right. It takes a powerful program that reaches all the 
way through the country. And it takes a steadfast commitment over time 
to do this. You asked about Indonesia? 
 
MR SCHEUER: Well, this is the question. In Africa you have villages in 
the bush that are really quite isolated. You may have 10 or 20 or 30 
mud-thatched huts way out in the middle of the veldt and very little 
communication even with any other village much less any central 
government.  
 
To the extent they know about a central government, they don’t like it. 
They don’t want to hear about it. The less they know about it the 
better. Of course, in Indonesia you have this incredible up and down 
communications network with pressure coming down from Suharto and the 
lateral pressure we call peer group pressure. 
 
So you develop a whole gestalt for or in support of family planning. 
And it seems to me that that, in addition to the sheer availability of 
it, which is your great point and on which I concur completely, is sort 
of a good part of the missing link, such as you have in China 
undoubtedly with some coercive aspects that none of us find very 
attractive but certainly in terms of peer group pressure and the 
message coming from the top of the ruling elite to the villages. You 
would have, I suppose, a structure with up and down communication and 
peer group pressures that would be even more effective – more Draconian 
perhaps is a better word – than even the Indonesian experience. 
 
But isn’t that means of communication, up and down and laterally and 
the existence of peer group pressure and the message from the top, part 
of the success of the Indonesian program?  
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Oh, yes, Mr Chairman, I heartily agree. I don’t think we 
have a disagreement. Our communications may sometimes be incomplete, 
but I heartily agree with that. And the thing I was impressed with when 
spending a week in Indonesia and visiting several areas of the country, 
was again the importance of leadership in determining program results. 
Leadership is the key determinant of program progress in many 
countries. Where there is outstanding leadership – 
 
MR SCHEUER: On the part of the country, itself? 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: And its principal leaders. Right. In Indonesia you have 
President Suharto steadfastly committed – strongly committed to this 
action for about 12 years and over that time he has put good people 
into key positions and supported them.  
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MR SCHEUER: Let me just interject a second. In January 1976 the Armed 
Services Committee had a meeting with President Suharto – a delegation 
from the Armed Services Committee in which I was invited to come along. 
A member asked President Suharto what was the greatest threat to 
Indonesian security? 
 
And he came right back without a moment’s hesitation and said, “Without 
any question the greatest threat to our security is the cohort,” – Now 
he didn’t use that word  -- like people like Teitelbaum use that word -
- but what he meant was “the cohort of young people coming into their 
education needs, coming into their health needs, coming into the job 
market in the years ahead; and if unable to get a handle on population 
growth, so we could satisfy their needs, so as to provide an 
indispensable  minimum of public services, community facilities and 
services of all kinds – particularly employment – we are ripe for 
infiltration, subversion and overthrow.” 
 
And then he added, sort of gratuitously, “And you Americans left six or 
eight billion dollars worth of small arms and implements of war of all 
kinds in Viet Nam that are now all over East Asia and you left them the 
means to do it, so thanks to you. This has been our number 1 problem, 
getting a handle on our galloping rate of population growth.” 
 
And there was no Professor Teitelbaum or Congressman Erlenborn to give 
him a cue. I think members of the Armed Services Committee were 
absolutely flabbergasted. And there I sat with a big Cheshire cat smile 
on my face, because those members heard and they understood. 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: I was impressed on this visit to Indonesia how the 
steadfast and understanding commitment by President Suharto over time 
has caused all the, so to speak, iron filings in Indonesia to be lined-
up in the same direction, so that out in the provinces, the districts, 
localities and villages there is a profound recognition that the 
constraint of fertility – the solution of the population problem – is 
one of Indonesia’s foremost essential tasks. 
 
MR SCEUER: And there’s a perception that the top guy perceives it as 
that. 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Right. 
 
MR SCHEUER: Now when I was in Africa a year and a half ago, I was in 
six countries – Kenya, Tanzania, Zaire, Nigeria, Ghana, the Ivory 
Coast, Senegal. Is that seven? The Ivory Coast, as you know, doesn’t 
have much of a problem. That’s a whole different scene there. 
 
But in the six countries that had problems and all of which have 
programs now, although I don’t think any of them cover as many as 10 
percent of the women of childbearing years, I asked everyone of our 
ambassadors, “When was the last time -– now that was a loaded question 
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–- you spoke to your chief of state here, to whom you are accredited, 
about the importance of the population problem?” 
 
And to a man, they all said they had never spoken to the chief of state 
to whom they were accredited about population problems, and they gave 
the reasons you could have predicted. “It’s much too sensitive. I have 
too many other brush fires I have to put out.” – and so forth. 
 
It seemed – now, of course, I can’t lay this to you and I can’t lay it 
to AID, but I can lay it to the State Department that they haven’t done 
enough to sensitize their ambassadors, our own missions. All of the 
development people, it seems to me, the agricultural aide, the economic 
consular aide, the economic aide, the military attache, all of them, it 
seems to me, should be carrying the population message that is relevant 
to their mission. 
 
And it seems to me this isn’t being done enough by far. And I was 
wondering if you know anyway we could sensitize our own State 
Department, so that our own Mission people could complement the work 
that AID has done and sort of do a sensitizing job and consciousness-
raising job that isn’t being done or at least it wasn’t being done a 
year and a half ago in Africa. 
 
And let me say that these ambassadors, for example, Ambassador Easum in 
Nigeria, one of the most brilliant men that you would ever hope to see 
on the international scene and an outstandingly effective ambassador – 
they were all first-rate people. I’m not trying to say they were 
dummies. They weren’t at all. But what I am trying to say is that for 
all of their effectiveness and their brilliance – and Easum is a 
perfect example – population concerns had been put way on the back 
burner. It was nowhere on their priorities list. 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Well, Mr Chairman, we share the same perceptions, the 
importance of this, and how agonizing it is that we don’t get the 
support we need. Our constant finding around the world is that the 
problem of getting more effective work toward solution of the excess 
fertility/excess population growth problem, is usually a political 
problem. The problem is not at the people level. Out at the village 
level and the household level, there is usually great receptivity for 
family planning services and actions. 
 
MR SCHEUER: I agree. They are way ahead of their policy people. 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: The problem is primarily political and it starts in 
Washington. Our biggest problems for many programs is right here in 
Washington, in AID and the State Department. If we can ever get through 
that thicket we’ve got a pretty good chance of persuading the leaders 
of the developing countries to do something useful. But often  we are 
stymied. And there are countries where the negative decree of the 
ambassador has prevented USAID family planning assistance during years, 
even though the country was ready to accept such help.  

 16 



   

 
 
MR SCHEUER: Which countries? 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Well,-- 
 
(laughter) 
 
MR SCHEUER: This would help us. I mean let’s fine tune our thinking. 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Yes, let us do that, but let me submit this for the 
record with the help of our staff, because of personnel turnover. I am 
sensitive to the fact that in some countries where ambassadors were 
obstructing the USAID population program assistance, there has been 
turnover of ambassadors, and the ambassador who was obstructing may 
already have moved on. I would hate for the onus to fall on a new 
ambassador who has just come on board and may be very supportive of the 
population program. 
 
(laughter) 
 
MR SCHEUER: What we need is a system. There has to be some organized 
way in which these ambassadors can be counseled so that they can be 
given refresher courses in the impacxt of population on the countries 
to which they are accredited. They need a little hand-holding on a 
systematic basis. 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Well, I think if this Committee – Why wouldn’t this 
Committee invite a half-dozen key ambassadors to come here and discuss 
this matter? 
 
MR SCHEUER: That’s an excellent idea. 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: I think this would be the most powerful way in which we 
could get a handle on this. 
 
MR SCHEUER: Excellent idea. 
 
MR ERLENBORN:  Are you going to give us the hit list? 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: And you could have some real fun! 
 
MR SCHEUER: Congressman Erlenborn says, “Are you going to give us the 
hit list?” 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: You have a very effective staff and I am sure that 
somehow, despite my best efforts to the contrary, certain 
communications between my staff and your staff will occur. 
 
(laughter) 
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MR SCHEUER: Very good. Dr Ravenholt, we’ve been very challenged and 
intrigued by your testimony. We’ve gone over an hour and we’re way, way 
beyond our time schedule. I’m going to ask you just a couple of 
questions. And I hope we can try and keep both the questions and 
answers brief. 
 
The major channels for international population program assistance from 
your ’77 budget are: Private, non-profit organizations – 36% of your 
budget; UNFPA – 21% of the budget; direct bilateral assistance (that 
is, U.S. to the recipient government) – also 21%; and U.S. universities 
– 13%. 
 
What is the rationale governing these relationships – this distribution 
of resources and would you advocate any change in that relationship 
based on your experience? 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Budget formation in AID, as I am sure in most of the 
agencies in Washington, is a complex, many-sided and many stages 
process. Initial proposals are made, sometimes from the field, 
sometimes from the Office of Population, often from elsewhere, for 
certain levels of support for various organizations. 
 
And then this is chewed over  repeatedly at various levels and by many 
people in the agency before a concensus emerges that so much should go 
to this and so much to that and so much here or there. So it tends to 
be a complex process. Again let me emphasize the role of leadership. 
When we are considering an organization that has demonstrated 
outstanding leadership, and can really move, my staff and I get turned 
on to giving that organization increased resources with which to move 
the action. But sometimes the leadership falters and then we cut back 
on our support for that organization. Ordinarily there are many parties 
to USAID budget decisions.  
 
MR SCHEUER: Dr Ravenholt, I just have a couple more minutes. As I say, 
we are way over on our time. 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Okay 
 
MR SCHEUER: I’m going to ask you if you’d be kind enough to give us a 
breakdown of your current projects and indicate which of them are 
integrated with some kind of health program – maternal and child health 
or whatever – and which are free-standing programs. If you can get that 
to us in the next 10 or twelve days, we’ll hold the record open for 
that. Also, on page 8 you talk of sponsoring studies in the developing 
world in various countries on the status and implications of laws 
bearing on family planning activity. 
 
And elsewhere you talk about some of the impediments, the institutional 
impediments and the governmental impediments, to the wide dissemination 
of family planning. We’d very much like a memo on that, if you can 
possibly do it for us, on a country by country basis for the major 
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countries. I’m not talking about Abu Dhabi and countries with less than 
a million population. The reason I’m asking this is that there is now 
coming into existence a group of parliamentarians concerned with 
population; and Congressman Beilenson represented our Committee in a 
meeting at Bonn a few months ago that got it going. 
 
Congressman Beilenson and Congressman Simon were among the initial 
instigators of that. And Congressman Akaka and Congressman McCloskey 
and I were at a follow-up planning meeting in Tokyo a few weeks ago. 
They will be having a major conference next August – this group of 
parliamentarians. 
 
And that conference will include, I suppose, well over a hundred 
parliamentarians, probably from 40 or 50 countries, in Sri Lanka in 
August of 1979. We got out a paper and I’ll get you a copy of it. It 
gave the Executive Committee on which I serve as Vice Chairman the 
mandate to investigate the institutional barriers and the governmental 
barriers to better dissemination of family planning and more effective 
use of family planning. 
 
We’d like to have whatever insights you have. So if you could get these 
studies of the status and implications of laws and other barriers to 
the widespread dissemination of family planning, we’d appreciate that 
very much. On page 9 you talk about the battelle Memorial Institute 
bringing governmental officials and researchers together in Guatemala, 
Haiti, and Ecuador. This covers the Western Hemishere pretty well – 
Latin America. Have they done anything for Africa or Asia? 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: This is a fairly new project contract with Battelle. 
They’re moving and strengthening, and I am sure they will be doing this 
there also. What we are trying to do in the policy area, is to identify 
specific policy blocks to program advancement and then seek to remove 
such blocks by focusing information, by studies, conferences, and 
actions such as enlisting the help of the ambassador, etc. 
 
MR SCHEUER: Yeah, but you haven’t gotten to Africa yet? 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: No, but we will see that we do. 
 
MR SCHEUER: On page 21 you talk about the reorganization of December 
1977. How has this affected your operational effectiveness in the 
field? 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Yes, the Agency went through a reorganization in December 
1977, which has not yet been fully implemented. During most of the 
subsequent time, my staff has continued backstopping these programs 
pretty much the way they had previously, but currently backstopping 
responsibility for the bilateral programs is being transferred from the 
Office of Population to the geographic bureaus.   
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We are sensitive to the fact that this means further scatteration of 
program responsibilities. The geographic bureaus do not yet, and may 
never have, the staff to really backstop these programs well. We’re 
concerned, but the decision has been made by the administrator and 
we’re doing our best to keep the program going despite the unfavorable 
organizational changes.  
 
MR SCHEUER: On page 25 of your testimony you say that global experience 
indicates that family planning is not a problem at the people level. 
It’s a political problem. Solving it can be done with remarkable speed, 
regardless of whether the country is large or small, literate or 
illiterate, and rich or poor. 
 
In effect, as I take it, you’re coming down against those who say that 
reductions in fertility levels must follow economic and social 
development progress. I don’t want to put words in your mouth, but is 
this the message I get when you say, “literate or illiterate, rich or 
poor.” There seems to be a difference. 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: No. I’m saying the development assistance for education, 
economic development, and so forth are all valuable in their own right. 
But there has been an unfortunate tendency in the past to think and 
assert that all these other things must be done before a couple, or a 
society will control their fertility. 
 
The evidence is very much to the contrary -- in China, Columbia, Korea,  
Indonesia and elsewhere – rapid progress on fertility control can be 
made at whatever level of development exists. Hence fertility control 
actions should be emphasized early on –- to put the fertility control 
horse in front of the development cart -- thus greatly improving the 
rapid effectiveness of the whole developmental assistance program. 
 
During most of the three decades of foreign assistance since 1949, 
after we moved from Europe to the less developed countries, much of our 
developmental assistance has been a wheel-spinning exercise, because 
most of those populations continued exploding in uncontrolled fashion. 
Now we know we can move forthrightly and rapidly with intelligent 
family planning programs to curb excess fertility as a leading element 
in development assistance programs. 
 
MR SCHEUER: Regardless of the literacy – 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Yes. 
 
MR SCHEUER: And regardless of those other standards. We had testimony 
last week comparing Venezuela with Sri Lanka. There was an indication 
that incomes had gone up to the point where individual incomes had gone 
up to the point where individual incomes were almost ten times as much 
in Venezuela as in Sri Lanka. Yet in Sri Lanka they have been 
significantly more successful in getting a handle on their population 
growth rates. 
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DR RAVENHOLT: Exactly. 
 
MR SCHEUER: Dr Ravenholt, I have one or two more questions to ask you, 
but we are desperately short of time. The women of my staff have 
requested me to ask a question. (laughter) 
 
MR SCHEUER: We understand, say these great ladies, that there are only 
two women population officers in the field. We have heard testimony 
encouraging the placement of qualified, and they say dynamic, women 
overseas to boost AID’s population assistance efforts. What actions 
have you taken and if not, what action do you propose to take since you 
are under the gun of these redoubtable ladies? 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Well, we greatly value and admire the work of quite a 
large number of women now in the Office of Population. It is true that 
there are not now very many women population officers overseas – for a 
number of reasons, but mainly because of the sheer lack of hiring power 
for quite a long while. Even though the population program was given 
special priority status by the Congressional earmarking of monies for 
the program, the Congress did not earmark personnel for the population 
program. Hence, we have ordinarily had to do the best we could with a 
very small crew; and have been subjected to the vicissitudes of 
repeated agency-wide reductions-in-force. Such reductions ordinarily 
prune-off personnel with least seniority, especially recently hired 
women. 
 
MR SCHEUER: Well, Dr Ravenholt, we have successfully recruited over 
half of our professional staff from the ranks of the women and there 
are PhD’s among them and substantial experience behind them. And I’m 
afraid that if I get them started – and took a poll of your ladies, I 
would think that they would say that particular explanation is not 
acceptable to them. 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Well, Mr Chairman, during the same time and a longer time 
that you have been so remarkably fortunate in recruiting the very 
talented staff that you have, we have also recruited, and more than 
half of ours have been women. In the last couple of years more than 
half of the professional staff that we’ve recruited into the Office of 
Population have been women. 
 
MR SCHEUER: Excellent. That’s very encouraging. 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: But as far as overseas placement, this has been held back 
by the sheer lack of being able to place people into the developing 
countries. It is also a problem having to do with marriage, and 
placement overseas of a woman has such large implications for her 
marriage and child raising and so forth that it is sometimes difficult. 
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But the principal reason that this has been so slow is that most of the 
time in recent years our ability to recruit has been frozen. We 
couldn’t recruit anyone. 
 
MR SCHEUER: Thank you Dr Ravenholt. 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Thank you, Mr Chairman. It’s precisely on this kind of an 
issue that this Select Committee, with its deep interest in this 
problem, I think, could make a very large contribution on the matter of 
minimally adequate staffing in important countries around the world. 
 
We’ve been held back enormously in key countries because of the 
inability to persuade everybody that has to be a party to that decision 
to put a full-time population officer into certain countries. I recall 
when we were trying to get a full-time population officer into Egypt. 
And the AID representative who was there initially, said, “Well, when 
the program gets big enough to warrant it,” then he could see putting a 
full-time population officer there, but until that occurred we should 
make-do with some temporary duty personnel. 
 
MR SCHEUER: The AID person? 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Yes, this was the AID Representative. 
 
MR SCHEUER: Well, physician, cure thyself. 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: We don’t just have problems of priorities with 
ambassadors, we also have them with Mission Directors and AID 
Representatives. Because, if indeed a large and adequate family 
planning program would grow in a needful country without the full-time 
promotive efforts of someone – 
 
MR SCHEUER: It wouldn’t happen. 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Then we wouldn’t need to put anybody in. The country has 
already proved during centuries that it doesn’t need a population 
officer -- because no family planning program has developed there! It 
is this curious , inverse thinking which has held back family planning 
program development in many countries. And I believe the interest of 
this Committee, with specific invitations to ambassadors and mission 
directors from key countries, and perhaps most important, the Secretary 
of State, could bring the kind of action  that is needed to implement 
this program fully in all countries where the Congress wishes it to be 
implemented.  
 
On barren soil, where no practice of birth control has ever developed 
before, it takes the particular missionary efforts of one or more 
persons utterly dedicated to the task, to make a family planning 
program bloom. In many ways, our work has been a missionary work, 
awakening fertility control illiterates in the LDCs to the wonderful 
family and social benefits which may be obtained by the exercise of 
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fertility control. But for this to happen, we must be permitted to 
place at least one able, dedicated proponent of birth control into 
every LDC of consequence.      
 
MR SCHEUER: Do any of our staff people have questions? 
 
MR ROBINSON: One question first for you, Mr Chairman. 
 
MR SCHEUER: One question first. When I was in Africa a year and a half 
ago, I got repeated signals from the Health Ministries there that they 
would very much like to see us license Depo Provera, at least 
conditionally, for women who had finished their child bearing. They 
felt that because African women had become accustomed to injections for 
diphtheria and malaria and cholera and all the other communicable 
diseases, they perceived injections as producing good things, and good 
results. The fact that it was a one-time shot in the arm, and that it 
was cheap and inexpensive and reversible to the best of our knowledge, 
made it a very attractive kind of family planning alternative and very 
cost effective. 

 
They wanted us to license it, at least provisionally, to remove the 
stigma of non-American approval: “Well, if it is not good enough for 
American women, it’s not good enough for Nigerian or Ghanaian or other 
African women. What is your perception of the desirability or utility 
of Depo Provera at this time? 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Mr Chairman, I am happy to respond to that, it is an 
important issue. I think your intuitions are entirely correct. Not only 
in Africa, but in Asia and Latin America, there is great demand for an 
injectable contraceptive, such as Depo Provera. 
 
Depo Provera was developed already long ago, and has been extensively 
used in the world. It is licensed for use by the Health Ministries in 
dozens of countries, other than the United States, and is an important 
element in quite a few family planning programs. 
 
When I was in Thailand in January, they expected to receive a million 
doses of Depo Provera through an arrangement with the UNFPA, actually 
funded by Australia. But then at a certain point, when Australia became 
aware that it was not licensed by the U.S. Food And Drug 
Administration, they cancelled there support for Depo Provera for 
Thailand. 
 
Now I understand they have subsequently changed their decision, and 
will provide some Depo Provera. But these problems of Depo Provera 
supplies for Thailand demonstrate “the tyranny of the Beagle dog over 
man.”  
 
MR SCHEUER: Could you explain to me how Australia was inhibited from 
supplying Depo Provera because of our FDA? 
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DR RAVENHOLT: Well, quite correctly many nations in the world take 
their cue from the United States Food and Drug Administration. The FDA 
is no doubt the foremost such quality control organization in the world 
dealing with pharmeceuticals. And the freedom of the American press and 
the intensity with which they pursue any possible hazard in this or 
that material reassures the rest of the world that if the USFDA 
licenses a product it is probably a safe product for them to use.  
 
I was in Europe as Epidemiology Consultant for the USPHS, in 1961-63, 
visiting and working with many Ministries of Health, following-up on 
the Thalidomide-caused congenital malformations tragedy; and learned 
that the Scandinavian and many other European Health Ministries depend 
heavily upon USFDA when deciding whether or not to license a drug for 
use in their respective countries. 
 
Unfortunately, mainly because of intense Catholic opposition, the 
licensure of Depo Provera by FDA has become an intense political issue. 
A month or two ago, the FDA decided not to issue such a license despite 
the positive recommendation of its expert committee.  
 
But it seems ridiculous  for this country to be spending many millions 
of dollars researching for new and improved means of fertility control, 
while ignoring and repressing the use of Depo Provera – which is a 
well-proven excellent new means. It doesn’t make good sense, and is 
really an insult to the taxpayer. 
 
DR SANHUEZA: That’s true.  
 
MR SCHEUER: I agree with you. Can I hear from Mr Rizzo and Dr Tamayo? 
 
DR TAMAYO: I think as far as Depo Provera is concerned, IPPF has been 
supplying quite a lot for some countries; and that is being monitored 
by Dr Sai. And you will have Dr Sai tomorrow. He can give you a good 
view of what is happening with Depo Provera in the world, because he is 
in charge of monitoring this for the IPPF. 
 
MR SCHEUER: And we’re finding now women in their twenties who have had 
two or three or perhaps four kids, who perceive that they’ve finished 
their child bearing – some by the middle of their twenties – and seek 
sterilization. So you don’t perceive that Depo Provera would be an 
appropriate form of contraception for a single woman who hasn’t married 
and who won’t marry for several years, but is becoming sexually active?  
 
DR SANHUEZA: No, I would not recommend the use of Depo Provera for any 
woman who has not yet proven her fertility. 
 
MR SCHEUER: Yeah, Dr Ravenholt. 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Thank you, Mr Chairman. Indeed I would add that in 
earlier years, a decade ago, I was somewhat hesitant about pushing for 
large numbers of women to be on Depo Provera injections, because of the 
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difficulties which might ensue from maintaining extensive programs for 
repetitive injections every three months. 
 
From a family planning program point of view this posed some problems; 
but also from an oncologic point of view -- and I was deep in cancer 
research before commencing population work at USAID -- if large numbers 
of women were placed on continuous unopposed progestogen injections 
during many years, this has somewhat worrisome implications for 
possible increased cancer occurrence. 
 
But it is precisely now, as voluntary surgical sterilization programs 
are reaching out into the hinterlands of many countries, that Depo 
Provera could have its very best application: Because a field worker, 
armed with Depo Provera injectables, can go into villages and rural 
areas and when identifying women who wish to terminate their 
childbearing, can give an immediate injection of Depo Provera – thus 
protecting the woman from unwanted pregnancy during the several months 
it may take to arrange for the woman to have a tubal ligation at a 
surgical clinic. This has the additional advantage, that it gives the 
woman time to mull-over whether she truly wishes to permanently 
terminate her child bearing. 
 
MR SCHEUER: Yeah. 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: So it is a very valuable addition to our fertility 
control armamentarium. Furthermore, looking ahead to greater program 
activity in Africa, as you quite correctly identified there is great 
avidity for injectables in Africa; and unless we apply the very best 
methods there, the programs will go more slowly than they otherwise 
could.   
 
MR SCHEUER: Dr Ravenholt. 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Mr Chairman, I would like to interject that I did just 
receive from the World Fertility Survey, in a communication dated April 
11, a breakdown for eleven countries on the distribution of fertility 
control by method. These are national representative sample surveys, 
ordinarily including 5 to 10 thousand households in each sample.   
 
This report shows the proportion of couples using each method – the 
pill, IUD, injections, condoms, sterilization, also rhythm, withdrawal, 
abstinence and douche. If you wish, we can submit this analysis for the 
record. 
 
MR SCHEUER: That would be very helpful, indeed.  
 
DR TEITELBAUM: Dr Ravenholt, I think, has a question. 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: I would like to speak to the matter of audits because 
it’s becoming an ever-increasing, important part of the program. And at 
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specific issue now is the matter of the audits of the IPPF and the  
family planning programs they support. 
 
When we began to provide assistance to the IPPF, there was considerable 
discussion of auditing and how it should be done. And it was agreed  
that while AID would audit the IPPF accounts in London, the auditing of 
the affiliate family planning accounts would be done by Price 
Waterhouse, the auditors at that time employed by IPPF for this 
purpose; and it was agreed that AID would not send it’s auditors to 
audit the individual country accounts. This was a sound, wise approach 
to the auditing required to assure that fiscal responsibility was being 
exercised. 
 
But if now, as has been proposed, the USG insists on auditing every 
family planning organization receiving support from USAID/IPPF, and if 
other countries providing support for IPPF likewise insist on auditing 
every country family planning program supported by IPPF, then Dr Tamayo 
may be over-run by auditors from a dozen countries. Surely, we must 
protect him from such wastage of human resources. 
 
MR SCHEUER: Dr Ravenholt, you mentioned before that you have a two year 
procurement time frame. Is that right? 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Yes, for certain kinds of contraceptives we have 
pipelines that long. From the time a contraceptive request is 
formulated in country, requesting the quantity required of each kind of 
contraceptive, until the contraceptives are delivered in that country, 
not infrequently two years may elapse: we must agree or perhaps modify 
the country request, then we must budget for and purchase those 
contraceptives, meld those requests with other requests, and they must 
be produced and shipped to their destinations. Of course, we do usually 
succeed in shortening the time lag from contraceptive request to 
fulfillment by buying larger quantities of contraceptives and  
maintaining the pipeline flow at levels close to expected demand. But 
many modifications of distribution and delivery schedules must be made 
according to political and personnel changes, to take full advantage of 
all opportunities for program advancement. 
 
MR SCHEUER: Are there any changes in the budget procedure or 
procurement procedure that Congress elaborates or the administration 
requires that could additionally rationalize and make your response to 
local governments more prompt and more responsive? 
 
DR RAVENHOLT: No, I think this has been worked-out about as well as 
could be done. I don’t mean to imply that the current logistics 
operation is not what it should be. 
 
MR SCHEUER: You just told us a few minutes ago that in terms of the 300 
million women or couples who need contraceptive services, that we are 
only filling the needs of about 10 million. 
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DR RAVENHOLT: The 10 million is about the number for whom we are 
currently providing oral contraceptives – somewhat over 100 million 
monthly cycles annually. In addition, of course, many of the 
contraceptive needs of the 300 million couples are being met by IUDs, 
condoms, injections, tubal ligations, etc; but we still have a long way 
to go – especially in Africa – to meet total contraceptive need and 
demand. 
 
In the case of Indonesia – which now has about 3 million women taking 
oral contraceptives, needing 40 million cycles per year – the supply 
situation has been complexified and OC action hobbled somewhat by the 
recent decision by AID political appointees that Indonesia must begin 
to manufacture their OCs, utilizing AID loans for that action. The 
Congress has not dictated that we interject loans for this purpose, but 
there are elements in AID finding new ways to slow the family planning 
programs. 
 
MR SCHEUER: Well, thank you very much, all of you, for a very 
thoughtful and stimulating group of testimony. We’ll now excuse you. If 
you want to stay for the next panel, we’d be delighted to have you 
stay. 
 
MR SCHEUER: Dr Ravenholt, your testimony has been remarkably 
interesting to us. You’re a leader in this field who has created a 
certain amount of controversy in your wake, but perhaps that’s a 
great testimony to your driving will and your incredible 
determination to move ahead and overcome all obstacles and maybe 
during this last ten years, where we were trying to break the sound 
barriers in terms of getting family planning programs accepted around 
the world, this kind of activist, indefatigable determination and 
driving energy and single mindedness of purpose were necessary and 
appropriate, albeit they did create some controversy. 
 
So I want to pay tribute to the remarkable job and the remarkable 
leadership role you have played in the last decade to bring us where 
we are today and to have brought the developing world along to where 
it is today. I know of no single individual who has contributed more 
to that process. 
 
So if we have needled you a little bit from time to time and if we 
continue to needle you a little bit from time to time, those are 
really footnotes to history and you’ve had a major role in creating 
this encouraging history of the last ten years and for that, as well 
as for your very stimulating testimony today, we thank you very much. 
(applause)     
 
DR RAVENHOLT: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
 
 

End of verbal testimony, Dr Ravenholt’s prepared, written testimony follows. 
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POPULATION PROGRAM ASSISTANCE 
USAID Population/Family Planning Assistance Program, 1965-1978 

 
 

For presentation to the U.S. House of Representatives Select Committee on Population, 
April 15, 1979, Chairman, Congressman James H. Scheuer. 

 
 
 
Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee: 

 
Reflection upon twelve years experience in development of population 
program assistance on a global basis -- how far we have come and have 
yet to go -- brings to mind Winston Churchill’s statement on Allied 
Forces progress after victory at El Alamein in October 1942: "Now this 
is not the end; it is not even the beginning of the end. But it is, 
perhaps, the end of the beginning.”(1) 
 
Likewise we are now "at the end of the beginning" of the momentous task 
of mobilizing global action to solve the World Population Crisis, and 
we can begin to see and measure substantial progress from where this 
program began more than a decade ago.  
 
 
Program Beginnings  
 
Population program assistance is now such an established and prominent 
part of total U.S. foreign assistance that it is already difficult to 
recall and appreciate the intense reaction and controversy which 
followed issuance of the "Draper Report" in 1959, which recommended: 
"That, in order to meet more effectively the problems of economic 
development, the United States assist those countries with which it is 
cooperating in economic aid programs, on request, in the formulation of 
their plans designed to deal with the problem of too rapid population 
growth.(2) 
 
This recommendation was disavowed by President Eisenhower as "not the 
government’s business" and six more years of political ferment ensued 
before President Johnson, in January 1965, announced, "I will seek new 
ways to use our knowledge to help deal with the explosion in world 
population and growing scarcity of world resources.” (2) 
 
Thereupon the U. S. Agency for International Development and the 
Department of State commenced development of what has since become the 
world’s most extensive population and family planning program; which by 
the end of the current fiscal year will have provided 1.2 billion 
dollars of population program assistance -- approximately half of all 
international grant assistance to date (Figure 1). 
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Although the total of 1.2 billion dollars may seem an impressive 
figure, it is a very modest sum when weighed against the magnitude 
of the task of solving the problem of excessive fertility and 
population growth for half the world population. $1.2 billion over 
13 years for the target population of 2 billion people provides 
less than 5 cents per capita per annum -- a very modest sum by any 
standard for this global task. 

 
During the last decade the annual population budget of A.I.D. aimed at 
curbing the excess fertility of 300 million couples of reproductive age 
living in more than 100 poor countries, has been roughly equal to the 
U.S. domestic family planning program budget aimed at curbing excess 
fertility of less than 10 million poor couples living in the United 
States. 
 
Because of the disparity between the size of the A.I.D. population 
budget and the size of the world population problem, there has been 
great need to apply these funds most carefully so that they could mike 
an important difference.  
 
Program Strategy 
 
The basic strategy of AID's population program, fashioned during the 
first several years and published in Science, January 1969, has guided 
the program throughout: 
 
"The ultimate goal of this program is to improve the health, well being 
and economic status of the peoples of the developing countries by 
improving the condition of human reproduction in these societies. We 
propose to move toward this goal by support of broad gauge population 
and family planning programs, designed to make family planning 
information and services fully available to all elements of these 
societies so that women everywhere need reproduce only if and when they 
choose. 
 
"Because the extent of availability of family planning information and 
means is now usually a dominant determinant in the complex of forces 
influencing reproductive behavior, no definitive studies nor final 
judgments of additional measures which may ultimately be needed to 
achieve a desired rate of population growth can be made in advance of 
the full extension of family planning services. But as family planning 
information and services are made appropriately available, key 
impediments to optimal utilization of such services can be identified. 
Thereupon, research studies should be performed as needed to overcome 
recognized obstacles and for advancement of the program. Naturally, 
many non-clinical actions, such as rational alteration of legal and 
fiscal codes, should be taken concurrently with clinical actions to 
enhance the effectiveness of the population and family planning 
program. 
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"Regardless of what special social measures may ultimately be needed 
for optimal regulation of fertility, it is clear that the main element 
initially in any population planning and control program should be the 
extension of family planning information and means to all elements of 
the population. It seems reasonable to believe that when women 
throughout the world need reproduce only if and when they choose, then 
the many intense family and social problems generated by unplanned, 
unwanted and poorly cared for children will be greatly ameliorated and 
the now acute problem of too rapid population growth will be reduced 
to manageable proportions.” (3) 

 
This direct and sharply focused strategy troubles many sidewalk 

superintendents in the population field, who offer a plethora of 
fanciful proposals on how they would solve the world population crisis. 
Unimpeded by any responsibility for successful implementation of their 
proposals they are vociferous in their criticisms of what is being done 
and aggressively assertive in trying to impose their favorite 
strategies on the program. 
 
Many adversaries and some friends of the program have tried to broaden 
its focus, seemingly oblivious of the fact that only 5 percent of AID’s 
developmental assistance resources have been allocated for the 
population program during recent years, 
 
A.I.D. has a broad development assistance program, and while there is 
every reason for relating the population program appropriately to many 
other actions, we insist that those other programs be mainly funded 
from non-population accounts -- from the 95 percent of A.I.D. 
appropriations -- and that integration of family planning with other 
development programs not be permitted to slow or block population 
programs. 
 
Creation of an effective global population program is like waging a 
global war: reasonably simple and reliable strategy must be chosen and 
then implemented thoroughly until the task is completed. At least a 
decade is required for full implementation of a single national family 
planning program; and at least another decade will be required for 
implementation of the bulk of the global program in which we are now 
engaged.  
 
Program Structure 
 
Population program assistance by A.I.D. is provided through hundreds of 
projects which are grouped according to the six principal goals at 
which they are aimed, and to which divisional structure of the Office 
of Population conforms. 
 
Some appreciation of program structure and evolutionary changes can be 
gained from Table 1 and Figure 2, showing annual program content, and 
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from the compendium of all projects supported with A.I.D. Title X funds 
presented in Appendix A. 
 
In the interest of brevity only a few of the most notable projects and 
activities are discussed below by goal:  

 
1. Development of Adequate Demographic and Program Data 

 
Since 1965, $37 million has been provided for the collection and 
analysis of demographic and related data by means of surveys, 
registration of vital events and censuses. 
 
The most original and perhaps the most notable action undertaken by 
A.I.D. in the field of demographic data collection and analysis is 
development of the World Fertility Survey, which we originated in 1971 
and the Office of Population has supported to the extent of $11.2 
million, along with a similar amount from the UNFPA. Fruition of the 
WFS has required years of work by many dedicated individuals and 
organizations but this project is now producing massive quantities of 
uniquely adequate data from nationally representative sample surveys 
and providing definitive answers to such questions as the relative 
importance of availability of contraceptive services and the role of 
other factors such as changes in education, occupation, and income in 
determining fertility patterns. 
 
The kinds of international comparisons which now become possible 
because of WFS data are indicated in Table 2. (4) 
 
The comprehensive and dependable findings of the World Fertility Survey 
are rapidly dissipating the mists of ignorance and argumentation which 
have obscured what poor and illiterate peasant couples in developing 
countries will or will not do when given the information and services 
and therewith the option for controlling their fertility. Fortunately 
the findings of the WFS document a tremendous yet-unsatisfied demand 
for improved fertility control in developing countries -- highlighted 
by the fact that currently roughly one-half of married women of 
reproductive age in the developing world do not want any more children.  

 
2. Development of Adequate Population Policies. 

 
Modification of population policies is inherently a difficult task, 
frequently necessitating use of oblique approaches because of intense 
political sensitivities. 
 
Attitudes on population matters differ widely among countries. Some 
countries announce as official policy their determination to slow the 
population growth rate through certain types of family planning 
programs. Others, though espousing no official policy, permit both 
public and private population programs to function and may even support 
or encourage them. Within each of these two categories some programs 
are more advanced, more purposeful, and more goal-minded than others. 
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Some other countries have adopted a policy of population growth control 
but do not adequately implement a program. And still others have not 
yet developed any significant national policy on family planning. 
A.I.D. has identified among countries experiencing serious population 
growth problems four stages of population policy development: 
(a)pronatalist, (b)start-up, (c)intermediate and (d)self-sustaining. To 
support and speed policy development in countries, A.I.D. is 
disseminating information to decision makers on the unfavorable impact 
of too rapid population growth on national development goals and on the 
need for measures to encourage reduced fertility. Also, A.I.D. is 
furnishing numerous countries periodic information on the social and 
economic determinants of fertility, and sponsoring studies of the 
status and implication of laws bearing on family planning activity. 
 
A.I.D.’s objective in the policy field consists primarily of enlisting 
and supporting indigenous leaders who will themselves determine and 
implement whatever measures are needed to promote policy development. 
In pursuing this objective, A.I.D. uses research and persuasion to 
discover and elaborate lines of informal national self-interest that, 
in turn, can buttress an adequate fertility control policy. 
 
Country studies and conferences have been A.I.D.’s principal means of 
bringing together population experts and decision makers. The 
Population Policy Analysis Project, for example, indicates the complex 
set of activities that promote policy development. Under this new 
project, the Battelle Memorial Institute has brought government 
officials and researchers together in Guatemala, Haiti, and Ecuador, 
helped them to define the ways in which rapid population growth 
obstructs their national development programs, and assists them to 
study and clearly identify the ways in which government programs, 
especially family planning, can be used to lower fertility. 
 
From 1965-1977 A.I.D. provided $23 million aimed at development of more 
adequate population policies in developing countries. 
 
3. Development of Improved Means of Fertility Control and More 
Efficient Delivery Systems. 
 
Since the mid 1960's, A.I.D. has supported population research with the 
purpose of developing and implementing improved means of controlling 
fertility. This research falls into two major categories: (1) 
biomedical research to develop improved fertility control technology 
and (2) operational or "action" research to improve implementation of 
family planning programs. Both types of research are essential to 
improve effectiveness of family planning programs.  
 
Biomedical Research 
 
Between 1967 and 1977, A.I.D. provided about $52 million for biomedical 
research to develop improved means of fertility control. The high 
priority given this work has been based on the assumption that when 
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more effective fertility control technologies are developed and 
delivered to countries with rapid population growth, the people of 
these countries use those technologies with considerable avidity. 
 
A.I.D.Os research program has been directed toward applied rather than 
basic research and has pursued a limited number of leads in depth 
rather than attempting to explore all possible approaches to the 
development of new technology. Relevance to the needs of developing 
countries has been a most important consideration in selection of 
topics for research. 
 
In view of the fact that a separate presentation to the Select 
Committee on A.I.D. biomedical research will be made by Dr. J. Joseph 
Speidel, Deputy Director, Office of Population, this presentation will 
simply note that the most important products of A.I.D.’s contraceptive 
research program have been improved means for female sterilization 
(falope ring and improved laparoscopes) and simplified uterine 
aspiration equipment. Not only has A.I.D. provided vital support for 
development of improved surgical equipment, but substantial support has 
been provided for closely geared training programs and for purchase and 
delivery of equipment to trained physicians in developing countries.  
 
Operations Research 
 
In the period 1965-77, A.I.D. provided $30 million for over 85 
technical assistance and operational research projects in countries of 
Africa, Asia and Latin America to improve delivery of family planning 
services (See Appendix B). A decade of program and operations research 
experience has consistently demonstrated that the extent of 
availability of contraceptives and fertility control services is 
usually a foremost determinant of fertility in developing countries. 
(4.5) 
 
In many developing countries, especially in Asia, despite favorable 
policies and considerable program activity, there are numerous 
economic, administrative, geographic and cognitive barriers which 
restrict full availability of contraceptive services. In many countries 
people still must travel long distances, wait many hours, fill out 
lengthy forms, receive services only during certain hours, and pay 
excessive fees for services. In addition, many persons are not aware of 
the services that are available, or have inaccurate information about 
specific fertility regulation methods. The general objective of 
"action" research projects is to develop delivery systems that 
eliminate or minimize such barriers, thereby making fertility 
regulation methods truly available. These systems must be cost 
effective and have the potential for replication by the host countries. 
 
As shown in Appendix B, operations research projects begun and 
supported by A.I.D. have demonstrated high rates of acceptance of 
family planning by poor and illiterate couples in many countries and 
have led to marked improvement of country programs. 
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4. Development of Adequate Family Planning Services. 
 
From the beginning of its assistance to family planning programs of 
developing countries, A.I.D. has emphasized support for development and 
strengthening of field services of country programs. Through its Office 
of Population and Country Missions, A.I.D. acts in this sphere to 
provide and encourage adequate availability of contraceptives and 
program services, promote the development of improved delivery systems 
for family planning supplies and services, and provide technical 
consultation on program problems.  
 
Commodities 
 
Through fiscal 1977 A.I.D. provided $162 million for purchase of 
contraceptives and surgical equipment. Nearly 600 million monthly 
cycles of oral contraceptives and 1.7 billion condoms have been 
provided (Table 3, Figures 3 and 4). These supplies have been 
indispensable for effective implementation of family planning programs. 
 
The reason A.I.D. has consistently given high priority to provision of 
adequate supplies if contraceptives and equipment to family planning 
programs is that experience has taught us that until these supplies are 
actually available to a program, effective action does not occur. 
 
A great deal of anticipatory and far-sighted action by the Office of 
Population staff is essential for country family planning programs to 
thrive: monies must be obtained and budgeted for commodities, 
specifications and purchase documents must be prepared, purchasing must 
be accomplished with the help of G.S.A. and competitive bidding, and 
deliveries must be made in timely and consistent fashion to faraway 
countries despite customs and many other barriers. Pipelines are 
sometimes inescapably more than two years long. 
 
Even after contraceptives are delivered to capital cities in timely 
fashion, the program may not move because host country officials fail 
to move them to the states, regions, districts, localities and 
households. 
 
There is an old Roman proverb: "Swords worn in Rome win no battles". 
Our motto is: "Contraceptives stored in capital cities prevent no 
births''. 
 
On occasion we have been criticized by Congressional staff because 
contraceptives have accumulated in a number of capital cities. And I 
have been challenged: "Dr. Ravenholt, when you purchased all those 
contraceptives for country X how did you know they would all be used?" 
To which I have replied: "When we commit to deliver contraceptives to 
developing countries on the other side of the world, we cannot know for 
certain that the contraceptives will be used in every country. But if 
we do not deliver them, we can be sure they will not be used.” 
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We must do our part of the action even while knowing that some of the 
less developed countries we are trying to help will fail to use our 
assistance well. To withhold supplies because we do not have a 
guarantee that each program will be a success would be analogous to a 
military quartermaster withholding supplies and ammunition because he 
has no advance guarantee that each battle will be won.  
 
Partners in Population Program Assistance 
 
In addition to providing assistance to 28 country family planning 
programs on a bilateral basis, A.I.D. has long emphasized the work of 
developing and supporting a number of private organizations which work 
in partnership with A.I.D. and developing country programs to provide a 
great deal of essential assistance in rapid and flexible fashion. 
 
Foremost among these private organizations supported by A.I.D. are the 
International Planned Parenthood Federation (IPPF); Family Planning 
International Assistance (FPIA), the international division of the 
Planned Parenthood Federation of America (PPFAIP); the Pathfinder Fund 
(PF); and the Association for Voluntary Sterilization (AVS). 
 
With funds from A.I.D. and from many other donors the IPPF provides 
support for affiliate associations in more than 90 countries. These 
associations operate more than 3,000 family planning clinics and 
provide support for community-based distribution programs as well as 
doing a great deal of training and education of the leaders, program 
personnel and the public. 
 
FPIA uses A.I.D. assistance to help provide financial, technical and 
commodity assistance to church-related and private service 
organizations in developing countries. Since inception of the program, 
FPIA has provided support for 137 projects in 32 countries with 
emphasis on low cost, innovative projects which have potential for 
replication elsewhere. In addition to direct project grants FPIA has 
provided contraceptives, surgical equipment and supplies, and 
educational materials to 71 countries. 
 
The Pathfinder Fund, as the name implies, has been a pioneer in family 
planning. Many of its early projects and activities led to formation of 
country family planning associations. With A.I.D. assistance Pathfinder 
has provided support for projects in more than 60 countries. 
 
The Association for Voluntary Sterilization was almost entirely a 
domestic organization until the International Project was created with 
A.I.D. support in 1971. Since then AVS has rapidly become a world 
leader in promoting voluntary sterilization as a safe, efficient means 
of fertility control. 
 
By means of world conferences in Geneva in 1973 and Tunisia in 1976, 
and many regional and country conferences; with training and equipment, 
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and support for service projects and education, AVS has contributed in 
large measure to the rapid acceptance of voluntary sterilization -- 
which by the end of 1977 was the most popular means of fertility 
control in the world, being used by an estimated 80 million couples. 

 
To date, AVS has provided support for more than 100 projects in 35 
countries, and the World Federation of Associations for Voluntary 
Sterilization now has 22 affiliate national AVS members. 
 
A.I.D.’s support of these organizations during the last decade ($107 
million) and their creative help have been indispensable for moving 
quickly and flexibly to advance family planning in myriad places and 
ways. 
 
5. Development of Adeguate Information, Education and Communication 
(IEC)  
   Program 
 
New contraceptive technologies have made family planning methods more 
effective and safer. However, the mere existence of new information and 
materials is ordinarily not enough. To bring these findings to public 
attention and generate action, dozens of organizations, many with 
A.I.D. support, have mounted a broad range of information, education 
and communication (IEQ programs through a variety of channels. 
 
IEC activities supported by A.I.D. have greatly expanded public 
knowledge and interest concerning the problems of high rates of 
population increase, have stimulated needed program action and provided 
information on family planning methods and program services. Radio, 
television, posters, pamphlets, newspaper articles, and films have 
spread the word; health and family planning curriculums have been 
developed and introduced in thousands of schools; local, national and 
regional meetings have brought people together for discussion and to 
initiate action. 
 
Funding Channels 
 
Approximately 11 percent (more than $100 million) of A.I.D. population 
resources over the past decade has gone into IEC activities including 
those conducted by various organizations such as the United Nations 
Fund for Population Activities (UNFPA), the International Planned 
Parenthood Federation (IPPF), East-West Institute, University of 
Chicago, American Home Economics Association, International 
Confederation of Midwives, Airlie Foundation, Asia Foundation, World 
Assembly of Youth and World Education, Inc., as well as support of 
country programs on a bilateral basis. 
 
Perhaps the most creative information and education project the Office 
of Population has supported has been the Population Information Program 
of the George Washington University begun in 1972. This program was 
established for the rapid diffusion of research and other findings to a 
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broad range of officials, population and family planning program 
workers, research scientists, educators, and the general public through 
the mechanism of thoroughly researched and carefully written Population 
Reports, disseminated in five languages throughout the world. These 
Reports are highly respected and widely read and have no doubt made an 
important difference. 
 
The Community and Family Study Center of the University of Chicago, is 
a foremost center for training of IEC personnel, which has carried out 
a number of population research, training, publication and consultation 
activities for more than a decade, with funding from both private and 
public sources.: Since it began, the degree program has granted 45 
Master0s degrees, and 18 NON to students from 25 countries. The program 
has a capacity of 25 students annually and has 8 fellowships to award 
to professionals who will become key communication experts in their own 
countries. 
 
Some 1200 participants from 90 countries have attended CFSC’s summer 
workshops on "Mass Communication and Motivation for Family Planning" 
since they began in 1963. The workshops have been funded mainly by 
A.I.D. since 1971 with fellowship support also from the Ford 
Foundation, the UNFPA and other donor agencies. overseas workshops, 
initiated under the expanded grant since 1977, have included 3 country 
workshops (Mexico, Guatemala and Yemen) and one regional workshop in 
Kenya involving 54 participants from 26 African countries.  
 
6. Development of Adequate Manpower and Institutions 
 
Population and family planning programs in developing countries require 
the services of many skilled and dedicated people. To meet these needs, 
A.I.D. since 1965 has developed an active manpower training effort, 
through contracts and grants to universities, public and private 
foundations, institutes, agencies and other organizations for training 
both within the United States and abroad. This program has received 10 
percent ($100 million) of A.I.D. resources allocated to 
population/family planning work. 
 
To a maximum extent, the training and utilization of population 
manpower should take place within the countries where programs operate. 
Nevertheless, especially in the early stages of a new program, such as 
the training of surgeons in advanced techniques of fertility 
management, it is desirable to bring a cadre of leaders to the United 
States -- "to light the candle". 
 
 U.S. Participant Training 
 
Each year between 400 and 500 participants have come to the United 
States under existing bilateral agreements and contracts to study in a 
variety of institutions and centers. As part of this worldwide training 
effort, A.I.D. provides professional guidance, funds, placement and 
support to these individuals and is actively engaged in recruitment in 
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those countries where A.I.D. missions exist. Mostly participants are 
recruited annually by U.S. universities under contract with A.I.D. The 
majority have been women. 
 
The Johns Hopkins Program for International Education in Gynecology and 
Obstetrics (JHPIEGO) is one of the most important training programs 
supported by A.I.D. Physicians play a key role in family planning 
programs. They provide clinical and surgical methods of fertility regu-
lation, supervise paramedical and auxiliary personnel, and are active 
in administering non-clinical and contraceptive services. 
 
Since 1972, training for obstetricians, gynecologists and other 
surgically qualified physicians has been carried on under the 
leadership of JHPIEGO, both directly and through associated 
institutions. 
 
PIEGO training consists of intensive 4 to 6 week courses in advanced 
techniques of fertility control for obstetricians and gynecologists. It 
includes extensive review of reproductive physiology and medicine and 
provides the necessary equipment and supplies to permit trainees to 
return to their countries and establish operating clinics and training 
centers in the procedures and methods that they have been taught. In 
addition, it has a follow-up program that sends qualified Americans or 
third country nationals to the medical institution of each participant 
to give further training within the local environment and to assist in 
developing and maintaining proper standards for the advanced medical 
procedures they have learned. Since 1972, more than 1300 physicians 
from 72 countries have received surgical laparoscopy training in PIEGO 
centers and 809 A.I.D. purchased laparoscopes are currently distributed 
in 62 less developed countries among trained gynecological surgeons, 
most with PIEGO training (Figure 5).  
 
Office of Population Organization 
 
In addition to the six functional divisions indicated above, the Office 
of Population from 1972 to 1977 had four area divisions and unified 
responsibility for A.I.D.'s population program. But the reorganization 
of December 1977 dispersed the area divisions and responsibility for 
bilateral programs to the Geographic Bureaus, while reducing Office of 
Population staff from 89 to 65 full time positions. The current 
organization chart is presented in Figure 6. A very talented, 
experienced and dedicated staff has worked mightily to rapidly 
implement A.I.D.’s population program, but it will be difficult to 
maintain program momentum.  
 
Program Progress  
 
With strong support from the U. S. Congress, A.I.D.’s population 
program has given impetus to the work of many other organizations and 
programs during the last decade -- as indicated by the ways a billion 
dollars was applied through fiscal 1977:  
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• $146 million to the United Nations Fund for Population Activities, 

approximately 45 percent of UN population resources. With these 
funds from the U.S. and other donor countries, the UNFPA has 
provided assistance upon request in more than 100 countries.  

 
• $92 million to the International Planned Parenthood Federation 

(including $10 million for contraceptives). With these funds and 
supplies from the U. S. and funds from other donors, the IPPF is 
providing support to family planning associations in more than 90 
countries.  

 
• $107 million to four other action intermediaries -- Pathfinder Fund, 

Population Council, Family Planning International Assistance/Church 
World Service, and the Association for Voluntary Sterilization 
(including $15 million for contraceptives). With these funds from 
USAID these organizations are supporting the innovative and 
pioneering activities of hundreds of subgrantee projects in more 
than 110 countries.  

 
• $52 million for research and development of new and improved means 

of fertility control. With these resources, A.I.D. provided vital 
assistance for improvement of techniques of female sterilization -- 
i.e. improved laparoscopes, minilaparotomy techniques, tubal bands 
and clips to obviate the need for use of electrocautery; and 
menstrual regulation equipment for simplified and safer uterine 
aspiration.  

 
• $162 million for purchase and transportation of contraceptives and 

surgical equipment. To date, A.I.D. has provided 600 million monthly 
cycles of oral contraceptives and 1.7 billion condoms to family 
planning programs in more than 100 countries. Likewise, A.I.D. is 
the major source of surgical equipment for family planning programs, 
and thru 1977, in addition to the 809 laparoscopes, A.I.D. supplied 
17,000 minilaparotomy and vasectomy kits to trained surgical 
personnel in 85 countries. With these surgical supplies skilled 
surgeons are rapidly moving to greatly increase availability of 
voluntary surgical sterilization in the developing world.  

 
• $261 million has been provided for support of family planning 

programs on a bilateral basis (exclusive of contraceptives). 
Foremost recipients of USAID assistance have been: 

 
Philippines  Pakistan Tunisia      Korea           Nepal 

   Indonesia    Thailand Tanzania     Afghanistan     Guatemala 
   India        Bangladesh Ghana        Ecuador         Jamaica 
 
In the Philippines, bilateral assistance totaled $50 million  through 
fiscal 1977, including 51 million monthly cycles of oral 

 39 



   

contraceptives; in Indonesia assistance totaled $48 million including 
more than 160 million cycles of oral contraceptives.   
 
• $179 million  for  development  of  more  adequate  demographic 

data,  policy development, training, research on determinants and 
consequences of fertility and evaluation; and $34 million for 
administration of the program. 

 
The Changing Scene 
 

In considerable measure due to the resources provided by the United 
States through the Agency for International Development, plus resources 
provided by other donors and the increasing contributions of the 
developing countries themselves, the world population scene has changed 
with great speed during the 13 years since the A.I.D. program began: -- 
The Pathfinding and Pioneering phase of the world population and family 
planning movement is largely accomplished. The majority of nations now 
recognize population growth as a key developmental variable and are 
dealing with it forthrightly. This is especially true in Asia and Latin 
America; though many African nations have not yet fully addressed this 
task. 
 
Rapid improvement in fertility control technology has been accomplished 
-- especially development of simplified techniques of female 
sterilization and pregnancy termination -- which in addition to oral 
contraceptives, condoms and intrauterine devices now provides adequate 
technology for control of fertility wherever these means are made fully 
and appropriately available. Additional technological evolution will no 
doubt occur, which will further strengthen fertility control programs; 
but fertility can be reduced to a low level in any country with current 
means if there is a will to make them fully available. Most nations 
have begun to provide information and means for control of fertility to 
their populations, though only a few nations have yet achieved general 
availability of the most effective means. 
 
 A most notable discovery of recent years is the finding that the 
majority of married women of reproductive age in developing countries 
want help now for control of their fertility; and when the most 
effective means are made generally and appropriately available in 
households and villages in rural areas, poor and illiterate peasants 
use these means to approximately the same extent as literate urban 
residents (4). Global experience during the last decade has amply 
demonstrated that the problem in implementing family planning programs 
is not at the people level but rather it is a political problem: and if 
the political leaders of a country are truly dedicated to solving this 
problem it can be done with remarkable speed-regardless of whether the 
country is large or small, literate or illiterate, and rich or poor. 
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World Fertility Patterns 
 
From 1965, when the A.I.D. population program began, until 1976 (the last year 
for which we have fertility and population estimates) powerful changes 
occurred in the world demographic situation: 
 
 1965 1976 
_________ 
  
World Population Total 3.3 billion 4.1 billion 
Average World Birth Rate 34 per 1000 26.2 per 1000 
Average World Death Rate 14 per 1000 11.1 per 1000 
Annual Population Growth Rate 2 percent 1.51 percent 
Annual Population Increment 66 million 62 million 
 
As shown, world fertility and population growth rates have dropped with 
unprecedented speed, reflecting action population and family planning programs 
in many developing countries receiving international population program 
assistance; remarkably effective planned birth action in China; and further 
decrease in the fertility of most developed countries. A panoramic view of 
World Fertility Patterns  is presented in Appendix C. 
 

Clearly, there are many deficiencies in world demographic data and even 
under the best of circumstances the data lag several years, but a number of 
conclusions are nevertheless warranted. World fertility is declining rapidly. 
Fertility is declining in virtually all developed countries except those such 
as Bulgaria, Hungary, Romania, and Russia which have pronatalist policies and 
already have low fertility. Fertility is declining rapidly in many developing 
countries, especially in East Asia and Latin America; but changing very little 
in other countries, especially in Africa. Fertility has declined at least as 
rapidly in some developing countries in recent years as it ever did in 
developed countries. Fertility decline in developing countries is especially 
apparent in those countries which have implemented family planning programs 
since the mid 1960's, e.g. Egypt, Mauritius, Reunion, Barbados, Chile, 
Colombia, Costa Rica, Dominican Republic, Greenland, Guyana, Panama, Trinidad 
and Tobago, Hong Kong, Indonesia, Korea, Singapore, Sri Lanka, Taiwan, and 
Thailand. Also, a number of countries such as Pakistan and Bangladesh have 
planned large family planning programs but have failed to implement them well 
because of political and leadership difficulties. Fertility in these countries 
has remained close to traditional levels. For many countries age-specific 
fertility data are not yet available; or are only available for one year; or 
are not available for a sufficiently recent year that one can know from these 
data what changes in fertility patterns have recently occurred. But other data 
indicate that fertility has declined substantially during the last 5 years in 
India, Indonesia and Tunisia, although the age-specific data presented here do 
not fully reveal these changes. 
 
P/FP Program Impact on Fertility 
 
Fertility patterns in the world in general and in developing countries in 
particular are affected by so many diverse factors that it is ordinarily 
exceedingly difficult to accurately measure the impact of a single factor, 
even if it be the dominant factor. But by relating the timing, place, nature 
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and magnitude of fertility control programs to changing fertility patterns 
throughout the world one can gain a considerable appreciation of which 
programs are effective, and why. 
 
To gain an adequate knowledge of the impact of family planning programs upon 
fertility in individual countries, one must thoroughly analyze program inputs 
and outputs each year (Tables 4-9) and relate those changes closely to 
changing fertility patterns (Figure 7). 
 
Such analyses must not only consider the monetary inputs but must also be 
sensitive to just when each program component was implemented and how well. 
For example, the inputs table may show monetary and contraceptive inputs 
during certain years but fail to reveal the otherwise known fact that the 
program was poorly managed and the contraceptives were held in the capital 
city for 18 months before distribution to the villages. But we can now 
identify a number of countries where family planning programs have been well 
implemented during the last decade and where they are surely a major cause of 
rapid decreases in fertility. 
 
Foremost examples of such programs where A.I.D. assistance has made a crucial 
difference are Indonesia, Korea, Thailand, and Colombia. 
 
Indonesia, especially, has developed a powerful and efficient program which 
has become a model worthy of emulation (Appendix D). It will take additional 
years of vigorous and determined action to fully implement the Indonesian 
population and family planning program. But with continued action along 
current lines, the birth rate for all of Indonesia could be under 20 by 1983. 
If so, Indonesia would become the first large, populous country in the free 
world to demonstrate that it too, like China, can develop and implement a 
sharply focused, national family planning program to reduce its birth and 
population growth rates to less than half in just one brief decade. Others 
will testify in detail on these programs and so I limit my remarks to a few 
overview comments: 
 
We now know and have demonstrated that fertility can be rapidly decreased in 
developing countries if sensible programs are thoroughly implemented to make 
contraceptive services and information readily and appropriately available to 
all the people. 
 
But population program assistance is nevertheless a difficult task because of 
severe intervening political and bureaucratic obstacles, often resulting in 
crucial deficiencies of personnel, commodities, strategy and leadership. We 
have no magic wand which we can wave to correct these deficiencies. Energetic, 
imaginative and tenacious work by a considerable number of key people at home 
and abroad -- and a large measure of good fortune – are necessary for the 
rapid success of country programs. The first indispensable element in 
successful population programs in the developing countries has been, and 
remains, the understanding and steadfast support of this program by the U. S. 
Congress and the White House. 
 
World Demographic Trends 
 
From 1965 to 1976 the World Birth Rate decreased from 34 to 26.2 live births 
per 1000 population (22 percent); while the World Death Rate decreased from 14 
to 11.1 deaths per 1000 population--2.9 points (21 percent). The resultant 
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decrease in the World Population Growth Rate -- from roughly 2 percent in 1965 
to 1.51 percent in 1976 -- reverses the historical post war trend toward 
increasing growth rates. 
 
The annual increment in world population -- the product of the world 
population x its growth rate -- was 66 million in 1965 and 62 million in 1976. 
But the peak annual increment of approximately 70 million people occurred 
about 1970. A rapid downward trend is now underway. Had the world birth rate 
continued at its 1965 level of 34 per 1000, while the death rate fell from 14 
to 11.1 per 1000, then the 1976 population growth rate would have been 2.29 
percent and the 1976 population increment would have been 94 million people 
(2.29 percent x 4.1 billion) instead of the actual increase of approximately 
62 million. 
 
This decrease of 32 million in the annual increment of people, from what it 
would have been if world fertility had remained constant since 1965, is a 
tremendous step forward toward resolution of the World Population Crisis. 
Fully half of that decrease can be credited to the Peoples Republic of China, 
but I estimate that roughly half of the balance, approximately 8 million 
non-births in 1976, can reasonably be credited to international population 
program assistance -- to which the U. S. Agency for International Development 
has been the major contributor. 
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MEMORANDUM 
  
TO: See Distribution                                  February 13, 1978 
 
FROM: DS/POP, R. T.Ravenholt 
 
SUBJECT: Family Planning Program Success in Indonesia 
 
As detailed in the attached cable from Jakarta, the Indonesian Family Planning 
Program is rapidly becoming the foremost fertility control program in the Free 
World. It has demonstrated that "where there is a will there is a way" to 
rapidly reduce fertility and population growth as a leading element in a 
general development program. 
 
The Indonesian success story derives from the fact that all the essential 
elements for a successful family planning program have been present in the 
Indonesian equation throughout the last eight years: 
 
1. President Suharto has provided strong, consistent and very meaningful   
    leadership for an effective fertility control program, including: 
 

 a) Frequent and consistent statements emphasizing the basic importance 
of the population growth problem and marshalling resources for its 
solution. 

 
b) appointment of sound administrators to key positions and solid 

support for them. 
 

c) periodic reviews of program progress and problems. 
 
2. Dr. Suwardjono, Head of the BKKBN (National Coordination Board for 

Family Planning) throughout the last 9 years has proved to be a very 
wise and effective program leader. In January 1978, on the strength of 
the family planning program success, President Suharto promoted him to 
be Secretary General of Health for Indonesia. Dr. Suwardjono has chosen 
and strongly supported able lieutenants, especially Dr. Harry Haryono, 
Chief of Research and Development, who received a Ph.D. from the 
University of Chicago with AID support and has proved to be a dynamic 
and capable driver of key actions, especially the Village Family 
Planning Proqram. 

 
3. USAID, first with Richard Cashin as Mission Director and Dr. Jarrett 
     Clinton  as Chief Population Officer, succeeded by Tom Niblock as Mission 
     Director and Tom Reese as Chief Population Officer, (with valuable 
 contributions by Bill Johnson, Charles Terry, et al) has provided strong  
     and consistent support for the Indonesian Family Planning Program. 
 
4. The Office of Population, AID/W has likewise provided strong and 

consistent support to the Mission with such tasks as development of 
improved program strategy, taking anticipatory action to buy and deliver 
massive quantities of contraceptives, helping with training, and research 
and measurement of program progress, and enlisting and supporting the 
work of intermediary organizations. 
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With respect to the strategy of the Indonesian program it should be noted that 
family planning services were first made available through the existing MCH 
clinics, but when the limits of that system were reached a truly innovative 
Village Family Planning Program (VFPP) was launched to bring contraceptive 
services and information to every village and household. It is this VFPP which 
is now providing the most vivid and exciting evidence that family planning 
services made quickly and immediately available by a single purpose program 
are used in large measure. 
 
Harry Haryono and Tom Reese, with the AID-supported Research and Development 
Project have perfected the VFPP strategy in West Java and outer Islands so 
that the initial action to make family planning services available throughout 
a village to all households is being done at the remarkably low cost of 
roughly $50 per village (average population 5,000) or 1 cent per capita (plus 
AID-supplied contraceptives). 
 
This action is possible because of the general strong supportive political 
climate, the outstanding leadership of key persons involved, and the 
mobilization of local leadership and workers (mainly as volunteers). 
 
The strength of the Indonesia program is revealed by the fact that when this 
proqram is implemented in areas with traditional fertility, with birth rates 
in the mid forties, fully one-half of eligible couples (Elcos) are recruited 
to pill or IUD use during the first several months with high rates of 
continuing use. And now in many villages more than 80 percent of Elcos are 
using either the pill or IUD despite the fact that they are mostly illiterate 
housewives of poor farmers and no incentives are offered except that this 
action is well recognized to be in the self interest of the family, community 
and nation. 
 
Also, it should be noted that though the ideal overall development assistance 
objective may be to achieve an "integrated" development program, this is 
ordinarily not possible nor desirable in the initial action phase. 
 
Sound development assistance requires a number of sequential actions leading 
to full fledged "integrated" programs. An analogy is the work of the chef 
whose goal is to combine a number of ingredients to create a smooth, 
"integrated'' cake batter -- but he begins by the singular act of breaking and 
beating the eggs. 
 
It will take several more years of vigorous and determined action to fully 
implement the Indonesian population and family planning program. But with 
continued action along current lines, the birth rate for all of Indonesia 
should be under 20 by 1982. If so, Indonesia will become the first large 
populous country in the free world to demonstrate that it, too (like China) 
can develop and implement a sharply focused, national family planning program 
to reduce its birth and population growth rates to less than half in just one 
brief decade. 
 
The cost of this very successful population proqram assistance is remarkably 
modest: through fitcal 1978, AID will have provided $56 million support 
(including 200 million monthly cycles of oral contraceptives), and under the 
new Project Paper authority $76 million additional support is planned. Hence, 
the total cost of AID assistance, actual and planned during the 12 years 
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required to make Indonesia self-sufficient in fertility control, is roughly 
one dollar per capita. Other donors are also helping, but the total of all 
international population program assistance will probably total less than $200 
million, or roughly $1.50 per capita. With the early success of the Indonesian 
Family Planning Program, other development programs should become more 
efficient and rapidly successful. 
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CABLE  FROM  JAKARTA 
 
R 030925Z Feb 78 
FM AMEMBASSY JAKARTA 
TO SECSTATE WASHDC 6599 
 
UNCLAS SECTION 1 OF 2 JAKARTA 1576 
 
AIDAC 
 
EO 11652: NA 
SUBJ: THEY SAID IT COULDN'T BE DONE 
 
1. That poor, illiterate, rural societies would never adopt modern contraceptive 
practices without many antecedent development changes. They said it couldn't be done in 
Bali -- in this intensely traditional child-centered Hindu culture of 2.2 million 
population, 90 percent rural, 40 percent illiterate, poor (per capita GNP less than 
dollars 200per annum), where in 1968 the birth rate was 44, the death rate 18, and 
the infant mortality rate more than 120. 
 
2. But it has been done. With a clinic centered program begun in 1970 which recruited 
approximately one-fourth of eligible couples to theuse of IUDs and oral contraceptives 
during four years; and especially by the village family planning program begun as an 
operations research and development project in 1974 with USAID assistance and rapidly 
implemented by the BKKBN to make contraceptive services readily available in every 
sub-village or Banjar. And with the remarkable result that by September 1977, 61 percent 
of eligible couples were using modern contraceptives, mainly IUDs and oral 
contraceptives; 
further recent indications are that the birth rate in 1977 for all of Bali was less than 
20 and the growth rate under one percent. It is noteworthy that this achievement has 
been accomplished by a single purpose family planning program, at remarkably low cost, 
and offering no adopter incentives. Essential elements of the village family planning 
program or Banjar system are: 
 

A. Outstanding BKKBN leadership inspiring and leading a well-trained cadre of field 
supervisors. 

 
B. Training of the Klian (Banjar leaders) in the need for family planning in 

Indonesia and in the elements of the Banjar System, consisting of: 
 

I. Registration of all eligible couples (married, menstruating women) hereafter 
referred to as ELCOS. 

 
II. Mapping of every household containing ELCOS. 

 
III. Color coding of contraceptive use status of every ELCO, e.g., blue for IUD, 

red for oral contraceptives, on a publicly-displayed map of the Banjar. 
 

IV. Monthly meeting of the Klian (Village Chief) with the male heads of all 
households, at which time family planning progress is reviewed, problems 
discussed, and contraceptives distributed. 

 
V. Thorough reporting of contraceptive use status and fertility by every Banjar 

(3725) at quarterly intervals to the BKKBN, with feedback of cumulative data 
and analysis to Banjars. 

 
Effect of this vigorous community level program is not only apparent in survey and 
registration data, but also has begun to reverberate through Bali society as some of the 
Districts with a more advanced family planning program report greatly reduced first 
grade school enrollments. 
 
3. They said it couldn't be done in Java. In this traditional Moslem society of 84 
million, 80 percent rural, 40 percent illiterate, poor (per capita GNP less than 
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dollars 200 per annum) where in 1968 the birth rate was 43, the death rate 19, and the 
infant mortality rate more than 125. 
 
4. But it has been done in large measure especially in East Java, and with rapidly 
advancing programs in Central and West Java. The clinic centered program begun in 1970 
achieved contraceptive use by 15 percent of ELCOS in four years; and, according to a 
recent BKKBN survey, the village family planning program begun in 1974 with USAID 
assistance rapidly increased contraceptive use to 37 percent of ELCOS in all of Java by 
late 1977 (42 percent in East Java, 39 percent in Central Java and 29 percent in West 
Java). In close relation with the advancing past to west) implementation of village 
family planning services in Java, birth rates dropped by 1977 to the low twenties in 
East Java, high twenties in Central Java and mid-thirties in West Java. According to the 
1976 Inter-censal Survey, growth rates in Java are under two percent with East Java 
growing at 1.2 percent, Central Java 1.5 percent and West Java 1.7 percent. 
Surprisingly, and again contrary to conventional wisdom, Jakarta's urban population is 
increasing at a natural rate (excluding migration) of about 2 percent. The essential 
elements of the Java village family planning program are: 
 

A. Strong BKKBN leadership at National, Provincial and Local (Kabupaten) levels. 
 

B. Recruitment of participation and active support of village and sub-village 
formal and informal leaders (including religious leaders). 

 
C. Establishment of contraceptive re-upply depots (POS KB) in every village, with 

volunteer villagers in charge who register all ELCOS and maintain records of 
contraceptive use status. 

 
D. Development and support of sub-village family planning groups, linked to the POS 

KB Leader; in West Java these field workers, accompanied by paramedic from the 
Ministry of health, visit each household to educate couples; do a simple health 
check; leave a cycle of pills; and, refer acceptors to the village re-supply 
(POSKB) center. 

 
5. The BUM with increased USAID assistance, is rapidly extending the village family 
planning program in Java and to the outer islands. On the basis of current progress and 
plans the Indonesia family planning program should be fully in place by late 1979. 
Achievements to date have been accomplished mainly with oral contraceptives and IUDs 
(AID has provided 200 million monthly cycles of orals) but injectables and surgical 
contraceptive services are being added. Building upon the success of the village family 
planning program in delivering services to villages and households, the BKKBN is now 
adding other program elements to solidify gains won and to strengthen general 
development programs, e.g., nutrition education by family planning field workers, 
cooperative production of poultry and clothing, and adult literacy classes for 
villagers. Experience in developing the village family planning program has strengthened 
village capacity for planning and administration of other development programs. 
 
6. Clearly President Suharto's strong and continuing interest in the family planning 
program has been essential to the speed and success the BKKBN has enjoyed in 
establishing services in the village. The President continues to monitor the progress 
of the program quarterly with his Ministers and Provincial Governors. Recently the 
BKKBN held a family planning exhibition in the President's working offices which was 
reviewed favorably by Suharto. 
 
7. The burgeoning success of Indonesia's family planning program during the last 
seven years provides heartening evidence that this large, underdeveloped non-communist 
country, by vigorous and steadfast leadership, with modest amounts of foreign 
assistance, and non coercive methods can rapidly solve its excess fertility and 
population growth problem, and thereby contribute greatly to the efficiency of hits 
general development program. 
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